IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

DA 24-0717

Austin Roger Carter,

Pro Se,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

Magris Talc USA, Inc., Louise M. Carter, AND Julie Ann Bittick

Defendants and Appellees.

FILED

JAN 14 2025

Bowen Greenwood
Clerk of Supreme Court
State of Montana

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from Cause No. DV 16-2024-315-WS in the Montana Eighteenth

Judicial District Court,

Gallatin County, The Honorable Andrew Bruener, Presiding

Austin Roger Carter
Pro Se
96 MT HWY 2 E
Whitehall, Montana 59759
Telephone: (307-705-2159
austinrcarter@hotmail.com
Plaintiff and Appellant, Pro Se

Mark R. Feddes
CROWLEY FLECK PLLP
1915 South 19th Avenue
P.O. Box 10969

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether, in constitutional challenges like this, MCA Rule 12(b)(6), M.R.Civ.P., has been misused / misapplied by the court when a sum made certain, legal theory for relief, and states a valid legal claim with facts, is present and is specific in a complaint.
 - A. Whether Rule 12(b)(6) takes precedent over Montana Code Annotated §§§ 39-2-801, 39-802, 39-2-803, and § 39-2-804 when dismissing defendants Louise M. Carter and Julie Ann Bittick. Mr. Carter stated the claim, and the blacklisting clearly identified and well-pled in the initial complaint.
 - B. Whether this amounts to an unconstitutional rule against plaintiff by depriving Mr. Carter of his constitutional rights

and protections under the Montana Constitution and the Montana Code Annotated. If defendants are dismissed Appellant can never be made whole.

II. Whether this Court should overrule the District Courts err on their determination to dismiss Defendants Louise M. Carter and Julie Ann Bittick as “individuals”, where it is described as “individuals” or “person” as legally responsible, in MCA §39-2-801, §39-2-802, §39-2-803, and § 39-804, as opposed to an “employee” reflected in the position of the district court.

A. Did the court wrongfully interpret WDEA § 39-2-912 “exemptions” when the judge stated “Nothing in the WDEA suggests that a wrongful discharge claim can be brought against a fellow employee in an individual capacity separate and apart from the actions of the employer.”, when the “blacklisting” portion of WDEA, §39-2-801, §39-2-802, §39-2-803, and § 39-804 state “person”.

B. Whether the court erred in its opinion that “none of the “exemptions” of § 39-2-912, “create a cause of action for wrongful discharge against a fellow employee in an individual capacity.”, and therefore “The Court finds that the WDEA is

addressed to the wrongful actions of “employers” as manifested by the actions of their employees within the scope of their employment.” When in § 39-2-912 (1)(a) details that it “does not apply to a discharge”...”that is subject to any other state or federal statute”...”statutes include those that prohibit discharge for filing complaints,”. Where Appellant did file complaints and was ultimately blacklisted by the individual defendants.

- III. Whether a judge can unconstitutionally misdirect a WDEA pleading of wrongful termination § 39-2-904, where Mr. Carter did refuse to violate public policy and reported it, and his employer materially violated its own written policy, and as a result Mr. Cater was subjected to Blacklisting as described in MCA §§ 39-2-801, 39-2-802, 39-2-803, § 39-2-804, with § 39-2-904 (a), and § 39-2-904 (c) elements. Then the judge converted it to a Workers Compensation Act using “intentional injury cites” and applying MCA §§ 39-71-411; and 39-71-413, stating that the only relief that can be sought in this case must have “wrongful conduct or intentional torts (e.g. battery)” to qualify in a “wrongful discharge”. Suggesting that blacklisting and a wrongful termination does not qualify under WDEA § 39-2-904 (a), §

39-2-904 (c), and the blacklisting under §§§ 39-2-801, 39-2-802, 39-2-803, § 39-2-804, as plead in Appellants Complaint.

A. Appellant had a prima facie showing of “Blacklisting” in his complaint, however the district court applied the incorrect standard and converted it into Workers Compensation Act and cited that Appellant needed to receive intentional injuries from the individuals and therefore dismissed Louise M. Carter and Julie Ann Bittick. This Court should overrule the District Courts decision.

IV. Whether MCA Rule 55(a), M.R.Civ.P., takes precedent over MCA Rule 12(a)(1)(A), M.R.Civ.P., the MCA Official Summons Form, MCA Rule 55(b)(1), M.R.Civ.P., and entry of judgement under MCA Rule 21 (A)(8)(a)(1), M.R.Civ.P., as it relates to default Judgement in this case. Whether a judge can erroneously manipulate the factual dates in a case and apply his own laws to intentionally create damages to Appellant by delaying entries and not being forthcoming with statements provided in In-Chambers Conferences, waiting over six months so he can use lawfare and delays to make Plaintiff /Appellant be further damaged by the postponements, through the eventual orders.

- A. Whether Plaintiff / Appellant prejudiced by the court when the court dismissed Julie Ann Bittick and Louise M. Carter.
 - B. Whether the court abused its discretion when it shifted the burden to Plaintiff / Appellant by not awarding default judgements and causing further financial hardship.
- V. Whether the district court manifestly abused its discretion by failing to consider and assess the Plaintiff / Appellants arguments and rebuttal evidence presented in his Complaint and his rebuttals to the Defendants Motions and presented materials, when dismissing defendants.
 - A. Whether the court abused its discretion when it did not consider the Complaint and its detailed accusations of blacklisting.
 - B. Did the court abuse its discretion when it did not consider the written documents detailing the reporting from the Department of Labor, ClearView (hotline), and Mr. Carters Performance Review as provided in the complaint, but only considered the documents provided by the defendants.
- VI. Whether the actions of the court were intentional and therefore limited Plaintiff / Appellant access to the courts, to Montana's Constitutional Rights, and his access to the Montana Code Annotated Laws.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff/Appellant, Austin Roger Carter (“Mr. Carter”), filed a Wrongful Discharge From Employment under Title 39” on March 27, 2024, after being terminated by Magris Talc USA, Inc., and being “Blacklisted” by Julie Ann Bittick (“Julie”) and Louise M. Carter (“Louise”) via written documentation, and verbal retaliatory activity (Complaint District Court Doc. 1, pages 7 & 9). Prior to being wrongfully terminated Mr. Carter had excellent “Performance Reviews” and received his bonuses consistent with the reviews. Mr. Carter received the retaliatory actions from Julie and Louise after following the Magris Code of Conduct Policy and contacting the two defendants as required, first Louise in September of 2021, and then Julie in November 2021, (Complaint District Court Doc. 1, page 25). Then ultimately Mr. Carter contacted the Company Hotline on January 10, 2022, (ClearView hotline) (Complaint District Court Doc. 1, page 13-24). Then retaliation came in October 26, 2022, in the form of Louise and Julie changing Mr. Carters goals, that he had already met, near the end of the year and constructing an egregious “Personal Improvement Plan” attempting to deprive Mr. Carter of his bonus and raise that he had earned. This was followed by weekly sessions where Louise would verbally abuse, bully, gaslight, and degrade Mr. Carter in attempts to make him quit. Mr. Carter was then confronted with an

entirely changed Performance and Development (PAD, yearly review) review where Louise changed every goal in the current performance review that was established in the first quarter of 2022, to fit her new narrative. Mr. Carter had already completed his goals for the year and scored as follows: (Mr. Carter was 91-95 % = Exceeds Expectations, on his goals for the year that ended 12/31/2022). Under Louise's newly developed attack the review stated that I did not meet any of the goals so she could set Mr. Carter up to not receive his raise or bonus and attempt to have him quit. Mr. Carter again contacted the Magris hotline for a second time and was shortly thereafter contacted by Scott Bergen, Vice President, Commercial and Corporate Affairs, of Magris Talc USA, who also coordinates legal defenses, and who advised that he was the one that received all hotline calls and correspondence from the supposed private hotline. In direct discussions with Scott, he advised that he had been working with Louise and Julie to, apparently, help facilitate Mr. Carter's forced leave from the company due to him exposing the wrongdoing, company policy violations, the Magris Code of Conduct.

On October 26, 2022, Louise and Julie presented Mr. Carter with the Performance Improvement Plan (PIP), which reversed all of Mr. Carter's work in his PAD and blamed Mr. Carter for Louise and Julie's illegal activity and activity that was not permitted under the Magris Code of Conduct. Under the Magris Code

of Conduct it was required that employees follow the policy or face termination, if they did not report as required in the policy.

On March 27, 2023, Louise called a meeting with Mr. Carter in his Three Forks, Montana, Magris Talc purchasing office. Mr. Carter was presented with a “Separation Agreement and General Release of All Claims” by Louise and advised that I was terminated. The unsigned “Employment Termination” produced by Scott Bergen (“Scott”) with the unsigned PIP (Magris Talc USA Inc.’s Response in Opposition to Motion for Default Judgement, District Court Doc. 10, pages 19-22), was likely produced at a later time because Appellant never received that document, and it is not dated. On March 28, 2023, Julie Ann Bittick left the company. Mr. Carter reached out to Magris HR and was sent to other individuals, and ultimately to Scott Bergen, to inquire about being reinstated or for a reason why he was terminated, however Scott advised, “We acknowledge receipt of your email below. Please note that you were not advised of any internal procedure to appeal your discharge as Magris Talc does have any such internal procedure in place”... “If you agree with the terms of the Separation Agreement and General Release of All Claims, including the separation payment, please reach out to either Mitch or me to coordinate execution of the agreement and payment.” (Complaint District Court Doc. 1, page 31). Mr. Carter viewed this as extortion, because it was, and did not sign any of their documents. Appellant applied for jobs weekly

but was unable to secure one due to the “Blacklisting” and has been unable to secure a job to this date.

After finding that Magris would not follow their policy and that I had no options but to file with the Montana Department of Labor & Industry – Unemployment Insurance Division, where Magris Talc USA, Inc., delayed my ability to receive any benefits, the division finally ruled that “You state you were retaliated against and discharged after filing several reports of serious violations of the companies Code of Conduct policy and rule. Your employer has been given the opportunity to provide specific information regarding your employment and separation but has failed to do so. Therefore, an intentional disregard of your obligation to your employer has not been established. Based on the information available, your discharge was not for misconduct under Montana Code Annotated Section 39-51-201(19) and 39-51-2303.” (Complaint, District Court Doc. 1, page 45).

On March 27, 2024, Plaintiff / Appellant filed the complaint with the district court. After the Defendants failed to answer the complaint timely, Plaintiff/Appellant filed a Motions for Default Judgement with the required affidavit (Motion for Default, District Court Doc’s. 9, 12, & 13), subsequently Magris Talc USA Inc., filed a Motion in Opposition (Motion in Opposition, District Court Doc. 10), Julie and Louise filed Motions to Dismiss (Combined

Motion to Dismiss, District Court Doc. 6). On May 1, 2024, Judge Breuner ordered a Case Management Conference (District Court Doc. 11), for May 28, 2024. On May 28, 2024, an In-Chamber Conference occurred with all parties present, the judge advised the parties in that hearing that he would need to rule on the pending motions before the case could proceed. After 120 days of waiting for some kind of disposition, and as the local rules allow, Mr. Carter sent the court letters (Letters, District Court Doc. 20, 22, and 23) requesting some movement on his motions. Over Six (6) Months passed before the court denied Plaintiffs Motions for Default Judgement (Orders, District Court Doc. 24, 25, 26 and attached). In the “Motion Denying Default Judgements” Judge Andrew Bruener dismissed both Louise M. Carter and Julie Ann Bittick, making the order dispositive. Defendants / Appellees, through their attorney, immediately filed a Motion to Amend Caption to remove Louise and Julie (Motion to Amend Caption, District Court Doc. 27), and like a bolt of lightning, two days later, Judge Andrew Breuner granted the motion and recaptioned the case heading (Order Granting Motion to Amend, Complaint District Court Doc. 28). The contrast between the over six months to address Mr. Carters motions and the two days it took for a ruling for Defendants, obviously demonstrates how the court views this case and Plaintiff. On December 11, 2025, Mr. Carter filed this appeal.

Statement of the Facts

Plaintiff / Appellant, Austin Roger Carter (Mr. Carter) claims arise out of his termination from his position of Purchasing Manager for Magris Talc USA, Inc., and before the acquisition he was Purchasing Manager for Imerys, Talc North America, in Three Forks, Montana. Mr. Carters' position as purchasing manager, as well as the prior owner Imerys and Magris's Code of Conduct, required via policy that he be familiar with the Montana Uniform Commercial Code, under MCA Title 30 and United States UCC codes, as a requirement of his job. Under Imerys, there were no problems as Imerys was compliant and held to their policies and the law. When Imerys sold the talc division to Magris, Mr. Carter was responsible for putting in place "Bridging Agreements" with suppliers so that the transition would not have financial or supply chain issues during the transition. Unfortunately, after the transition to Magris, defendant Louise M. Carter went against the new policy and transferred purchasing authority to individuals without purchasing authority according to the Magris policy. Mr. Carter identified several areas of concern that required his reporting to management of Magris' according to the Code of Conduct policy, many problems were caused by the delegated authority that Louise granted to employees.

First, Mr. Carter attempted to work with and resolve the violations of Montana Laws, and Federal Laws through his supervisor Louise M. Carter, which

she rejected and attempted to shift the blame to Mr. Carter, thereafter Mr. Carter brought this to the attention of H.R. Director Julie Bittick, which was consistent with the Magris Talc USA, Inc., Code of Conduct (Complaint, District Court Doc. 1, page 2). Instead of resolving the issue with Magris' leadership, Julie Ann Bittick ignored the issues and instead colluded with Louise to formulate ways to conceal the violations of the laws and policy, and shift the blame to Plaintiff, Mr. Carter. This in turn was jeopardizing the company's compliance with the law, explosive permits, projects, agreements, and therefore damaging the relationships with Montana and U.S. suppliers (Complaint, District Court Doc. 1, pages 13-23). Mr. Carters is certified is a CPPB in Purchasing and the defendants / appellees were putting that certification at risk, due to Mr. Carter's compliance with the company policy and Montana Laws, as he was required as part of his certification to report issues of this nature to management and leadership (Complaint, District Court Doc. 1, page 3).

Mr. Carter had first notified Julie Bittick, H.R. Director for Magris, on November 1, 2021, (Complaint, District Court Doc. 1, pages 2-3), but the email and requests only spurred Julie to respond that "she would retaliate if I elevated this any further" (Complaint, District Court Doc. 1, page 47) which she did and joined with Louise to ramp up efforts in retaliation against Mr. Carter. Thereafter Mr. Carter called the Magris Hotline (ClearView) first on January 1, 2022, where

he reported the issues in hopes of getting a resolution as stated in the policy (Complaint, District Court Doc. 1, pages 13-22). On March 9, 2022, Giorgio LaMotta, General Manager for Talc North America, advised Mr. Carter that he had achieved 95.9% of his goals for the year and a bonus of \$10,132.60 for his achievements and good performance review (Complaint, District Court Doc. 1, page 51), similar to what Mr. Carter demonstrated that he received on his performance review that ended on December 31, 2022, for March 2023 distribution, (Plaintiffs Reply to Magris Talc USA Inc's Response in Opposition to Motion for Default Judgement, District Court Doc. 16, pages 34-43). Louise extorted the March 2023 bonus away from Mr. Carter, it is unlikely that this is coincidence, but the Separation Agreement / Covenant Not to Sue payment that was offered was exactly the amount that his bonus would have been for 2023.

During the period between February and mid-October 2022, Mr. Carter was heavily involved in the rolling out of Magris's new ERP (computer accounting system), Mr. Carter was over the requisitions and purchasing modules (and much of the finance as it related to purchasing), including training all requisitioners companywide, and including programing and transfers of data from the legacy system, during the implementation. All of this in addition to his normal duties of Purchasing Manager, which the two combined consumed over 80 hours per week. Mr. Carter received a substantial bonus of several thousand for the extra efforts the

good job done on the ERP project, in September 2022, from the Director of Finance, Anthony Wilson.

Shortly after the implementation of the ERP, October 26, 2022, Louise and Julie revived their efforts to take out Mr. Carter. Louise, in meetings, started repeating verbatim everything that Mr. Carter had departed to the ClearView Hotline, controlling Mr. Carters work computer through TeamViewer, changing financial documents, altering purchasing documents / agreements, and gaslighting Mr. Carter. This was done to cover up for Louise and Julies' misdeeds and violations of Montana MCA Title 30 violations, including §§§§ 30-14-205, 30-14-208, 30-14-209, and 30-14-219 (Complaint, District Court Doc. 1, page 16). On October 26, 2022, Mr. Carter was presented with a Performance Improvement Plan, that repeated near verbatim what was provided to the hotline only turned around to make it seem like Mr. Carter was the one that had committed the acts, statements that work Mr. Carter had conducted did not happen, and a cadre of fraudulent statements that were derogatory to Mr. Carter and his career and including extortion remarks, (Magris Talc USA Inc.'s Response in Opposition to Motion for Default Judgment, District Court Doc. 10, pages 19-22, Exhibit C). Mr. Carter refused to sign the documents although Julie and Louise kept persisting through emails and calls to have him sign the PIP document.

Mr. Carter reached out to the hotline (ClearView) again to follow up on his initial complaint and to inform them that he was going to reach out to others in management (Eric Colby) to get the issues resolved and to disprove the PIP document and Julie and Louise provided in the efforts to get Mr. Carter fired and to effectively blacklist him (Complaint, District Court Doc. 1, page 18 - 24). On November 11, 2022, Mr. Carter received a call from Scott Bergen, Vice President of Magris, and was advised that he was the one that was receiving the reports, reviewing them, and responding through ClearView. He continued to advise Mr. Carter to just go along with the PIP and meetings with Louise while he completed the review of the January 10, 2022, report that Mr. Carter filed. He further repeated what he had written in the ClearView report that, "As stated in our Code of Conduct, Magris prohibits retaliation against any employee for submitting a report or complaint, or for participating in any investigation." And "The performance improvement plan is your opportunity to address the performance issues that have been identified, and as stated in the plan any failure to do so could result in disciplinary action. (Complaint, District Court Doc. 1, page 18).

Mr. Bergen also advised Mr. Carter to attend his annual performance review and just "hear out" what Louise had to say. Mr. Carter met with Louise for his annual performance review, and he was shocked to find out that every one of his goals were thrown back in his face as 0% complete and that she repeated every

ClearView point and discussions surrounding those reports. It was obvious that Julie, Louise, and Scott had conspired to take out Mr. Carter. After the Performance Review (not the PIP), Mr. Carter reached out to Mr. Bergen and wrote to him, "Just finished a performance review that was possibly the most degrading, humiliating, demeaning, dishonest and repugnant performance review and situation I have ever encountered in my career. Louise outright lied and misrepresented every aspect of my performance review to deliver a blow to my career and good standing as an employee -and all after I have given it my all, and more, to keep this companies purchasing aspect functional, she is a liability to this company. Using me as a fall person for all of the activities that I have brought to the attention of this company to support its policy on "Code of Conduct" and instead the policy is being used as a tool to retaliate against myself as an employee. As previously mentioned, you prompted me to do the actions requested in the "performance improvement plan" even though it was a cover for activities done by Louise and Julie and to counter my reporting to Clearview of activities not in line with the code of conduct both times. Instead, Louise used those meetings to degrade me and give me a performance review that was a clear display of high-handed bullying and retaliation meant to pressure me to quit. Well, even if I did quit because of this blatant abuse, I now have a performance review that would

haunt me, derail my career and reduce my salary requirements. All in the name of retaliation for following Magris's Code of Conduct, which I am required to do according to that policy. I assume you discuss all of this with Louise and Julie, at a minimum Louise, as she will "word drop" from what I depart to you, or she is reading that in my emails that I send to you, so am not certain that the issues are making it to the correct place in Magris (I will make certain they do if they are not) or the policies are hollow." (Plaintiffs Reply to Magris Talc USA Inc's Response in Opposition to Motion for Default Judgement, District Court Doc. 16, page 18).

There were prior telephonic meetings between Louise M. Carter and Mr. Carter where it was discussed that Plaintiff could end his career and risk losing his certification (CPPB) should he proceed with endorsing the explosive project, other projects, and other sham requests for proposals that were being conducted by unauthorized persons, according to the Magris Code of Conduct and other policies, if he endorsed or proceeded with the transactions. This only increased the bullying, harassing, and gaslighting by Defendants, directed toward Plaintiff, and culminated in the termination of Mr. Carter on March 27, 2023.

The written document that Defendants Louise M. Carter and Julie Ann Bittick constructed to "Blacklist" Mr. Carter and used as pressure to get him to quit or leave the company, known as the "Performance Improvement Plan" (PIP), where the document demanded that Mr. Carter admit to wrongdoing and to

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