03/17/2025

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0717

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Cause No. DA 24-0717

AUSTIN ROGER CARTER;

Appellant,

v.

MAGRIS TALC USA, INC., LOUISE M. CARTER, and JULIE ANN BITTICK;

Appellees.

APPELLEES' RESPONSE BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana Eighteenth Judicial Court, Gallatin County, Cause No.: DV-16-2024-315-WS Honorable Andrew Breuner

Attorneys for Plaintiff/Appellant

Austin Roger Carter Pro Se 96 MT HWY 2 E Whitehall, MT 59759 Telephone: (307)705-2159 austincarter@hotmail.com Attorneys for Defendants/Appellees

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There are several reasons why Mr. Carter's appeal fails as a matter of law. As a threshold issue, Mr. Carter's appeal should be dismissed because the orders Mr. Carter seeks to appeal are interlocutory orders not subject to substantive review, and Mr. Carter has not sought or obtained certification under Montana Rule of Appellate Procedure Rule 6(6). This issue presents an absolute bar to Mr. Carter's appeal.

Second, the district court correctly dismissed Julie and Louise from the action because it is undisputed Julie and Louise were not Mr. Carter's employer. Agents or employees of an employer cannot be held individually liable for wrongful discharge. The WDEA provides an exclusive remedy against the employer.

Finally, the district court correctly denied Mr. Carter's motions for default against Defendants because Defendants did not fail to plead or defend against Mr.

Carter's claims. Magris answered the complaint four days before Mr. Carter moved for default against Magris. Julie and Louise filed a joint motion to dismiss nine days before Mr. Carter moved for default against them.

ARGUMENT

A. THE ORDERS FROM WHICH MR. CARTER SEEKS APPEAL ARE INTERLOCUTORY ORDERS NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THE COURT.

The district court has not issued a final judgment in this matter, and the orders from which Mr. Carter seeks appeal do not fall within any appealable order identified under Rule 6. Cases "involving multiple parties or multiple claims for relief, an order or judgment which adjudicates fewer than all claims as to all parties, and which leaves matters in the litigation undetermined," are not appealable. Mont. R. App. P. 6(5)(a). Unless final judgment is entered as to one or more claims or parties, any order that adjudicates fewer than all the claims or the rights and liabilities of fewer than all the parties does not end the action. Mont. R. Civ. P. 54(b)(1). Interlocutory orders, such as those at issue, are not appealable absent special circumstances, none of which exist. Mont. R. App. P. 6(6); Mont. R. Civ. P. 54(b).

Generally, a district court's ruling on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss is appealable only after entry of a final judgment upon adjudication of all matters in the litigation. *Vulles v. Thies & Talle Mgmt.*, *Inc.*, 2021 MT 279, ¶ 7, 406 Mont.

169, 172, 512 P.3d 248. Here, Mr. Carter improperly attempts to appeal such an order. Although Julie and Louise were dismissed from the action, Mr. Carter's claims against Magris remain undetermined in the pending litigation, and a final judgment has not yet been entered. Mont. R. App. P. 6(5)(a). Certification of the matter as a final judgment for purposes of appeal has not been sought or obtained under Rule 6(6), Mont. R. App. P., and Rule 54(b)(1), Mont. R. Civ. P.

Similarly, "entry of default is merely an interlocutory order that in itself determines no rights or remedies, whereas a default judgment is a final judgment that terminates the litigation and decides the dispute." *Essex Ins. v. Jaycie, Inc.,* 2004 MT 278, ¶ 10, 323 Mont. 231, 99 P.3d 651. Entry of default is an interlocutory order that does not determine rights or remedies. *Hoff v. Lake Cnty. Abstract & Title Co.*, 2011 MT 118, ¶ 20, 360 Mont. 461, 255 P.3d 137 (citing *Essex,* ¶ 10). The district court correctly denied Mr. Carter's motions for default because Defendants did not fail to plead or defend. Irrespective of the correctness of the district court's orders denying default, such orders are interlocutory because they do not determine the parties' ultimate rights and remedies, and certification of the matter as a final judgment for purposes of appeal has not been sought or obtained under Rule 6(6), Mont. R. App. P., and Rule 54(b)(2), Mont. R. Civ. P.

Because the orders from which Mr. Carter seeks appeal are interlocutory in nature, they are not subject to substantive review on appeal. Consequently, this Court should dismiss Mr. Carter's appeal without further analysis.

B. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DISMISSED JULIE AND LOUISE PURSUANT TO THEIR RULE 12(B)(6) MOTION BECAUSE THE WDEA PROVIDES THE EXCLUSIVE REMEDY FOR ALLEGED WRONGFUL DISCHARGE AGAINST AN EMPLOYER, NOT INDIVIDUAL EMPLOYEES.

The district court correctly applied the WDEA to find the WDEA precludes individual liability against Julie and Louise as employees of Magris. The WDEA's statutory framework provides an exclusive remedy against the employer. The district court correctly interpreted and applied the plain text of the WDEA to conclude the WDEA precludes recovery against Julie and Louise for alleged wrongful discharge.

Mr. Carter attempts to frame the issue as a constitutional question. (Notice of Constitutional Challenges, p. 1-3) The facts and law present no cognizable constitutional question. The issue is a straightforward question of statutory interpretation and application to the facts as plead.

The Montana Legislature enacted the WDEA to provide the exclusive remedy for a wrongful discharge from employment. *Buckley v. W. Montana Cmty. Mental Health Ctr.*, 2021 MT 82, ¶ 14, 403 Mont. 524, 485 P.3d 1211. "If an *employer* has committed a wrongful discharge, the employee may be awarded lost

wages and benefits" Mont. Code Ann. 39-2-905(1) (emphasis added); *Blehm v. St. John's Lutheran Hosp.*, 2010 MT 258, ¶ 18, 358 Mont. 300, 246 P.3d 1024 ("The Wrongful Discharge from Employment Act provides a cause of action against an employer in favor of an employee who has been wrongfully discharged.") The WDEA "provides the exclusive remedy for wrongful discharge from employment . . . and preempts common-law remedies." *Blehm*, ¶ 19; Mont. Code Ann. § 39-2-913 (expressly preempting all common law remedies and providing that no claim for discharge may arise from tort or express or implied contract). "There is no right under any legal theory to damages for wrongful discharge under this part for pain and suffering, emotional distress, compensatory damages, punitive damages, or any other form of damages" Mont. Code Ann. § 39-2-905.

Mr. Carter concedes Julie and Louise were, respectively, the Human Resource Director and Director of Supply Chain for Magris. (Dkt. 1, ¶¶ 2, 3, 7.) Mr. Carter specifically alleges his claim was brought against "Louise M. Carter, and Julie Ann Bittick pursuant to Montana Code Annotated (hereafter MCA) Section 39 for Wrongful Discharge." (*Id.*, ¶ 1). The complaint further alleges that Julie and Louise violated "Section 39 for Wrongful Discharge" and specifies that those violations are pursuant to "MCA 39-2-905 (1)(a), MCA 39-2-904 (1)(b), and MCA 39-2-904 (1)(c), MCA 39-2-905 (1), and as defined in MCA 39-2-903

(1)(2)(3)(8)." (*Id.*) The plain language of the complaint makes clear that Mr. Carter alleged wrongful discharge claims against fellow employees of Magris.

The district court correctly read the express allegations and gravamen of the complaint to find, "[a]s plead by Carter, Louise and Julie were acting within the scope of their employment with Magris so that their conduct could be attributed to Magris" (Dkt. 26, p. 3.) "Agents are not liable to others for acts performed within the scope of their agency unless the agent, with the consent of the principal, receives credit for a transaction; enters into a contract in the name of the principal without a good faith believe that he has the authority to do so; or the agent's acts are wrongful in nature." (*Id.* (citing *Crane Creek Ranch v. Cresap*, 2004 MT 351, ¶ 12.))

The district court correctly found nothing in the WDEA suggests that a wrongful discharge claim can be brought against a fellow employee in an individual capacity separate and apart from the actions of the employer. (*Id.*) "The Court finds that the WDEA is addressed to the wrongful actions of 'employers' as manifested by the actions of their employees within the scope of their employment." (*Id.*) Because Mr. Carter alleged the wrongful discharge by Magris was consummated through Julie and Louise in their capacity as employees of the company, the district court correctly determined the complaint failed to state a viable claim against Julie and Louise. (*Id.*, p. 3-4.)

Harrell v. Farmers Educational Coop. Union of Am., Mont. Div., 2013 MT 367, 373 Mont. 92, 314 P.3d 920, provides an analogous case. There, the plaintiff filed suit against both his employer, the Montana Farmers Union ("MFU"), and Alan Merrill, MFU's president, alleging wrongful discharge. *Harrell*, ¶¶ 1, 15. "Prior to and during trial, Merrill moved to dismiss the claims against him, arguing that as an employee and officer of MFU he could not be held individually liable for his actions under the facts of th[e] case." Id., ¶ 45. In finding the claims against Merrill should have been dismissed as a matter of law, the *Harrell* Court observed, "the WDEA provides an exclusive remedy" against MFU. Id., ¶ 49. The Court concluded that "Merrill is not personally liable under the legal standards that govern this case" and accordingly "is shielded from personal liability." *Id.* at 50-51. (See also Dkt. 6, Ex. A, Krasowski v. Billings District Council of the Society of St. Vincent de Paul, DV 21-0007 (Mont. 13th Jud. Dist. Ct.) (May 5, 2021) ("The WDEA does not allow for relief brought against the corporate agents of the employer – the express language of the statute only contemplates the actions of the employer ")); (Id., Ex. B, Yelenich v. Mission Senior Living, et. al. DV 23-161 (Mont. 2nd Jud. Dist. Ct.) (December 28, 2023) (The WDEA does not allow for relief brought against the corporate agents of the employer ").)

Accordingly, the district court's order should be affirmed because Mr.

Carter has not identified any material errors, irregularities, or omissions in the

Court's findings or conclusions to warrant reversal. Instead, Mr. Carter advances two unsupported arguments.

First, Mr. Carter argues the complaint states blacklisting claims and the district court ignored Mr. Carter's blacklisting claims when dismissing Julie and Louise. (App. Br., p. 5-8.) The district court allowed that the WDEA's exclusive remedy for wrongful discharge would not necessarily bar actions against individuals for other wrongful conduct or intentional torts. (Dkt. 26, p. 3.) The Court correctly recognized, however, "Carter does not plead that Louise and Julie committed intentional torts or other wrongful conduct in their individual capacity. ..." (Id., 4.) Each statutory provision Mr. Carter relies upon in the complaint falls within the WDEA. Mr. Carter specifically alleges Julie and Louise were conducting "constructive discharge" of Mr. Carter. (Dkt. 1, ¶ 1.) Mr. Carter does not cite any particular provision of the backlisting statute and failed to allege blacklisting elements. (See generally Dkt. 1.) Accordingly, the Court correctly dismissed Julie and Louise based on the exclusivity of the WDEA's remedy in wrongful discharge actions and their actions taken within the scope of their employment.

Second, Mr. Carter asserts the district court erroneously "converted" and applied the Workers Compensation Act ("WCA"). (App. Br., p. 7-8, 25.) A plain reading of the district court's order vitiates the argument. The district court

analogized the exclusivity of the WDEA to the exclusive remedy provided under the WCA for workplace injuries, while allowing for potential claims based on independent wrongful conduct: "Just as Montana's Worker's Compensation Act provides an exclusive remedy for employees of covered employers for on-the-job injury but does not bar actions against fellow employees for intentional injury (see MCA §§ 39-71-411; and 39-71-413), the WDEA provides an exclusive remedy for 'wrongful discharge' but would not necessarily bar actions against fellow employees for other kinds of wrongful conduct or intentional torts (e.g., battery)." (Dkt. 26, p. 3.) The district court made no further reference to the WCA.

Accordingly, the district court correctly dismissed Julie and Louise under Rule 12(b)(6).

C. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DENIED MR. CARTER'S MOTIONS FOR DEFAULT AGAINST DEFENDANTS BECAUSE DEFENDANTS ANSWERED OR DEFENDED, AND MR. CARTER'S MOTIONS WERE PREEMPTED BY MAGRIS'S ANSWER AND JULIE AND LOUISE'S JOINT MOTION TO DISMISS.

The district court correctly denied Mr. Carter's motions for default against Defendants because Magris answered the complaint on April 25, 2024, four days before Mr. Carter moved for default against Magris. (Dkt. 7; 9.) Julie and Louise jointly moved to dismiss on April 24, 2024, nine days before Mr. Carter moved for default against Julie and Louise. (Dkt. 6; 12; 13.) The district court subsequently

granted Julie's and Louie's motion. (Dkt. 26.) Defendants did not fail to plea or defend. Accordingly, the district court correctly denied Mr. Carter's motions.

Mr. Carter again attempts to frame the issue as a constitutional question.

(Notice of Constitutional Challenges, p. 4-7.) The facts and law present no cognizable constitutional question. The district court correctly denied Mr. Carter's motions for default based on Magris's answer and Julie and Louise's joint motion to dismiss predating Mr. Carter's motions.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Mr. Carter's appeal should be dismissed because the orders from which Mr. Carter seeks appeal are interlocutory orders and Mr. Carter has not sought or obtained certification under Montana Rule of Appellate

Procedure Rule 6(6). Alternatively, Court should affirm the district court's orders because the district court correctly dismissed Julie and Louise as employees of Magris and Defendants did not fail to plead or defend against Mr. Carter's claims.